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Pacific-American Climate Fund Project 

Grant Solicitation: Cycle 2 Frequently Asked Questions 

20 February 2015 

 

Q 1: Our concept note proposal was for $USD 1 million, but the Request for Application states $500,000.  

That is half of the budget we proposed in the concept note?  

A: The ceiling amount has been reduced to US$500,000 to allow more CSOs to participate in the 

program.  The Cycle 2 solicitations were opened to fund grants in category 2 grant size categories of 

US$150,001 - US$1 million. We received a total of 176 concept papers for Cycle 2 with total amount of 

funding request of US$89,169,980.  

 

Q 2: We are a U.S.-based organization and received the cover letter stating that the project budgets are 

not to exceed $500,000.  Please confirm if our proposal upper limit will be US$500,000. 

 

A: If the US-based organization would be the prime recipient of grant funding, they would only be eligible 

for up to US$100,000 as indicated in the Grants Solicitation: Call for Concept Papers, page 8. 

 

 

Q 3: Our concept note contained a budget that was for three years and just under $1 million USD. I see 

from the cover letter that project budgets are not to exceed $500,000 USD. Is the expectation that we are 

still applying for three years of support? 

A: It is up to the organization applying for the grant to decide the length of the project duration in light of 

the new ceiling limit.  Applicants should develop the application in the way they think would result in the 

most benefits and be most competitive. 

 

Q 4: The Request for Application (RFA) document mentioned February 16, 2014 as the last date for 

submission. We understand that this should be February 16, 2015. 

A: The Closing Date/Time for submission of application is February 16, 2015, 12:00 Noon, Manila Time. 

 

Q 5: In preparing our submission we have drafted a detailed budget breakdown which is different from 

our original submission. Are we permitted to modify our monetary request at this stage or should we try 

to maintain our original budget? 

A: The budget should be maintained at the amount of the original submitted concept paper. For those 

concept paper applications with grant size above US$500,000 should ensure that the project budget does 

not exceed US$500,000 in their proposal.  

 

Q 6: Are there examples or past applications available that we could access? 

A: There are no sample applications available. 
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Q 7: In past years what has the rate of success been for non-US applicants overall, and in comparison to 

US based applicants to the scheme? 

A: Pacific-American Climate Fund is a new initiative launched in March 2014. The Cycle 1 grant applicants 

are at grantee negotiation stage at present. 

 

Q 8: I have a question relating to the "Construction" policy. The project concept involves construction 

activities such as construction of fresh water systems and construction of nurseries, fencing and storage 

shed etc. Will any of the activities involving construction qualify for PACAM funding assistance? 

A: Construction related activities are not permitted by USAID for the PACAM program. PACAM funds 

cannot be used for any construction activities. USAID’s definition of construction can be found at: 

http://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1868/303maw.pdf 

 

Q 9: I am writing to inquire if your program offers any funding for field assessments in preparation of the 

application? 

A: All application preparation and submission costs are at the applicant’s own expense. 

 

Q 10:  We understand that the final decision regarding this grant will be by April 15. We would like to 

know when funding would be available should we be successful? 

A: The Grants Review Board recommendation for applications to receive award will be made by April 15 

but the final decision to develop a grant agreement and any subsequent release of funds will not be made 

until a Pre-Award Survey and negotiation process have been successfully completed.  The full application 

will be evaluated according to the technical evaluation criteria as per Grants Solicitation: Call for 

Applications – Amendment 3 document pages 8 & 9. By April 15, the Grants Review Board will make 

recommendation to proceed with the grantee negotiation based upon its evaluation of the applications.   

The potential awardees as per recommendation by the Grants Review Board that will be considered 

further will be subject to a financial responsibility determination that will be issued by the Pacific-

American Climate Fund and will include a pre-award survey. During the grantee negotiation process, the 

appropriate grant instrument will be selected to be used based on the organization’s institutional 

capacity, the amount of the grant award, and other relevant factors. Depending on the type of grant to 

be awarded, the disbursement schemes and mode of payment will be determined. It is expected most 

Awardees will receive a Fixed Obligation Grant (FOG), whereby funds are transferred to the Awardee as 

pre-determined milestones are completed.  Further information on FOGs can be found here: 

http://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1868/303saj.pdf The Pre-Award Survey and 

negotiation process that enables the finalization of a Grant Agreement and subsequent release of funds 

can take anywhere from several weeks to months depending on the complexity of the grant, the capacity 

of the organization receiving the grant, and the amount size.  

 

http://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1868/303maw.pdf
http://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1868/303saj.pdf
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Q 11: We work in very remote areas where there are no phones or Internet. This constrains our ability to 

send or write reports online. When are your reporting dates and can they be flexible to allow for the above 

mentioned constraints? 

A:  Please see response to Question 10. The frequency of reporting will depend on the grant instrument 

selected for your project. The schedule of reporting period will be stipulated in the grant agreement.  

 

Q 12: With reference to the RFA document, who signs the Certifications, Assurances and Other Statements 

of Recipients? Is it someone within the organization or an external individual? 

A: The Attachment 1A – SF-424B and Attachment 2 – Certifications & Assurances must be signed by an 

authorized representative of the organization able to legally sign documents on its behalf.   

 

 

Q 13: How are ‘key individual’ and ‘covered participant’ defined in Attachment 2. Section 5 part II and part 

III? 

A: “Key individuals” of non-U.S. NGOs are normally the in-country principal officers of the organization or 

the "project manager" or another in-country person principally responsible for administration of the 

grant. In the case of U.S. NGOs, the “key individual” is the in-country "project manager" or similar official 

principally responsible for administration of the USAID-financed activity. 

A: "Covered participant" Is an individual receiving a scholarship, fellowship, or other structured training 

of more than six hours financed by USAID in a “covered country.”  “Covered countries” are defined as a 

countries identified annually as major illicit drug-producing or drug-transit countries under the US Foreign 

Assistance Act as well as any country or portion of a country that the US State Department determines is 

to be treated as a covered country under other regulations.  Currently the covered countries are:  

Afghanistan, The Bahamas, Bolivia, Brazil, Burma, China, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, 

Guatemala, Haiti, India, Jamaica, Laos, Mexico, Nigeria, Pakistan, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Thailand, 

Venezuela, and Vietnam. 

 

Q 14: Confirmation of partnerships - are all partnerships required to be confirmed and negotiated before 

the application deadline or can pending collaborations be referenced and updated? 

A: Letters of support from all partners with budget allocation and relevant government authorities 

support must be submitted with the technical application.  

 

Q 15: Performance references - if past performance references from partners arrive after the agreed 

deadline would it be possible to submit them after the deadline? 

A: Past performance references from partners can be submitted by 13th March 2015 

 

Q 16: On the second page of the letter, it states the following: “Preference will be given to applications 

received from organizations based in Pacific Island countries and working with Pacific Island 
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communities;” Our office referred as ‘Project Office’ are based in some of the Pacific Island countries and 

we operate through our “member organization” who are based in Australia. This includes any donor 

grants being paid through the member organization supporting us on all our financial acquittals. They are 

also required to sign off on any contracts that are above a certain amount. Given this, please could you 

confirm if we would still be eligible for a PACAM grant should we be successful? 

A: Yes. Please note that the ‘Project office’ organizations based in Pacific Island countries and working 

with Pacific Island communities are eligible for a PACAM grant.  

 

Q 17: Also on the second page of the letter, it states: "Preference will be given to applications from 

organizations which have not previously received a grant from the Pacific-American Climate Fund”. As you 

may be aware, one of our organization> have had their full proposal accepted by PACAM and are 

currently negotiating their contract. We are both affiliated with member <organization> Australia. Given 

this, please could you confirm if we would still be eligible for a PACAM grant should we be successful? 

A: Please see response to Question 16. 

 

Q 18: Our application is in partnership with another organization. Does PACAM require all legal annexes 

(certifications and assurances) from both prime recipient and partner organization, or just the prime 

recipient? 

A: All legal annexes includes Attachment 1A – SF-424B and Attachment 2 – Certifications & Assurances is 

required only from the prime applicant. 

 

Q 19: We understand that should our proposal be successful, we will undergo a pre-award survey. Please 

could you confirm the following? 

(a) Would the applicant have to bear any of these pre-award survey costs? 

(b) Would the pre-award survey be just for the prime recipient or will it include the partnering 

organizations? 

(c) Given our operations are overseen by member organization based in Australia, would the pre-

award be conducted for the member organization? 

(d) Should we budget for any other audits during the life of the project and if so how much should 

we budget? 

A:  (a)  PGRD will be responsible for pre-award survey costs. 

 (b) The pre-award survey will be conducted on the prime applicant.  Please see response to Question 

10. Depending on the nature of the award, the reviewing team will determine the specific areas 

for review of the prime applicant. The prime applicant will be responsible for providing the 

necessary documentation of their partner organizations needed to evaluate the ability of the 

applicant to adequately fulfill the terms of an award. 

 (c)  No. The pre-award survey will be conducted only for the prime applicant. 

 (d) PGRD does not envision that any of its grantees will have to perform an audit of the PACAM-

funded activities.  However, depending on the country where the grant will be implemented, 

applicants may be required by law to perform annual audits.  In those cases, the applicant may 
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include the costs of an audit in the budget and must indicate in its budget narrative that it is 

required by law to perform an audit on its financial activities.  The applicant must provide an 

explanation of how the audit costs have been determined and how they have been allocated to 

the PACAM-funded project.   

 

 

Q 20: Both the prime applicant and partner organization are usually required to budget for some head 

office costs in project proposals. This includes technical support (finance, monitoring and evaluation, 

technical support). Please could you confirm if these costs would be eligible within this PACAM Fund? 

A: The applicant may budget for head office costs as long as they are reasonable and are appropriately 

allocated to the proposed project.  If using an indirect rate to budget for these costs, the applicant must 

submit either independently audited financial statements that directly quote that rate and how it is 

applied or a Negotiated Indirect Rate Agreement with a US Government Agency.      

 

Q 21: My applicant is under $150,000. Is the page limit the same as those under $500,000? Or is it less? 

A: The Technical Application shall be written in English and shall not exceed 20 single-spaced typed pages. 

Your technical application may be less than 20 single-spaced typed pages as long as it addresses all of the 

requirements outlined in the RFA.  Incomplete applications will not be reviewed.    

 

Q 22: Link for Gender and development guidelines RFA page 8 - this link doesn't seem to work for me. Do 

you have an updated link? 

A: Refer to the link below. Please inform the PACAM Program office if you continue to have problems 

accessing the link. 

http://www.pcw.gov.ph/sites/default/files/documents/resources/harmonized-gad-guidelines-

2nd_ed_0.pdf 

 

Q 23: Whilst the Technical Action format and checklist indicates that a Branding and Marking Plan needs 

to be included as an Annex, the information in the further guidance under Section IV- Award and 

Administration Information indicates that a plan would only be required if the full proposal is 

recommended for assistance. Please could you confirm whether an actual plan is required at application 

stage? 

A: The Branding and Marking Plan is a requirement of this application and should be submitted as per 

instructions in the RFA.  

 

Q 24: Can you confirm that the applicant should address communications and outreach priorities in a 

specific plan at this time?  My applicants assume that this is only required of the apparently successful 

applicants, or is this to be part of the graded application? 

http://www.pcw.gov.ph/sites/default/files/documents/resources/harmonized-gad-guidelines-2nd_ed_0.pdf
http://www.pcw.gov.ph/sites/default/files/documents/resources/harmonized-gad-guidelines-2nd_ed_0.pdf
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A: The Communications and Outreach Plan is a requirement of this application and should be submitted 

as per instructions in the RFA. During grantee negotiation stage PGRD will ensure that the 

Communications and Outreach Plan is consistent with the stated objectives of the award. 

 

Q 25. I applied for $150,000.00 and did not consider the Branding & Marketing costs. As a result my actual 

budget might increase a bit. Is it possible to go a little over the amount proposed in the concept paper? If 

so by how much in percentage? 

A: Please see response to Question 5. 

 

Q 26. Can we purchase a project support vehicle from the budget? 

A: The aim of this grant program is not to fund the purchase of vehicles.  USAID and PGRD encourages 

applicants to evaluate their proposed ideas to determine if vehicle purchase is necessary or if other 

options (for example, rental) could be considered.  Whether an organization can purchase a vehicle 

depends on many factors.  One is the size of the grant awarded; a disproportionate amount should not be 

allocated to the purchase of a vehicle. If the purchase of a vehicle is deemed necessary, nationality and 

origin rules will apply.  This means the vehicle must be manufactured within the United States.  It may be 

possible to receive a waiver for this requirement but receiving such a waiver will take time.  This must be 

built into the organization’s project plan and budget when proposing the purchase of a vehicle.  It could 

take three to nine months to receive a vehicle from the United States. 

  

Q 27: If a proposal is submitted earlier than its due date can it be reviewed and adjusted prior to the 

submission date? 

A: No. All applications will be reviewed and evaluated according to Section III Application Evaluation 

Information as stated in the RFA document after the submission deadline.  

 

Q 28: Can late submissions or incomplete submissions be re-submitted in the next solicitation cycle? 

A: No. The next solicitation grant funding and other parameters will change from cycle to cycle and 

respectively the evaluation criteria.  

 

Q 29:  [The applicant] is a self-funded institute that costs its projects based on charge-out rates of its 

personnel in accordance with their level of experience. These charge out rates include the cost of salaries, 

statutorily required payments such as superannuation and insurance, taxes and support staff costs.  Are 

we able to provide a budget based on these charge-out rates? 

 

A: Charge out rates as described in the question are allowed.  However, the budget narrative must clearly 

state the base salary rate for each staff member, and must itemize the fringe benefits and the support 

staff costs attached to each rate.  Note that profit or fee cannot be included in the charge out rate and 
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taxes paid as a deduction from the employee’s salary cannot be included in the charge out rate, since they 

are paid to the government authorities on the employee’s behalf.   

 

Q 30:  Is there any more guidance that you could provide in relation to what constitutes a (a) Fringe Benefit 

(b) Other Direct Costs (c) Indirect Cost 

A:  (a)   Fringe Benefits - these are any employment benefits that staff paid from this project will receive. 

These may be health insurance, social security payments, unemployment benefits, educational 

benefits, etc. Benefits should be calculated based on the standard employment benefits offered 

by the organization where they will work and should follow the minimum requirements mandated 

by law. 

 (b)   Other Direct Costs - other costs associated with the implementation of the grant activity that are 

not included in any other cost category specified above. Examples include communications, office 

supplies, etc. Please include in this section the cost of marking equipment and public outreach 

materials with the USAID logo. Prices for USAID logo stickers can be found at 

http://www.usaid.gov/branding/suppliers. Note that all public outreach materials (posters, 

manuals, banners, leaflets, etc.) must be marked with the USAID logo, and logos may be 

downloaded free of charge for print and web materials at http://www.usaid.gov/branding 

Organizations will not be required to design the USAID or logo identity. 

  (c)  Indirect costs - are costs used to support the operation of the applicant which will not be billed 

directly to the grant. These may be overhead or general and administrative (G&A) costs. 

Applicants should only budget indirect costs when they have an established indirect cost rate 

which has been determined through an independent financial audit or a negotiated indirect rate 

agreement with a US Government agency. 

 

Q 31: Could you please advise where can we get access to the US Government per diem rates? 

A: US Government per diem rates can be found at: 

http://aoprals.state.gov/content.asp?content_id=233&menu_id=81 

 

 

Q 32: Is obtaining a DUNS number a mandatory requirement for all applicants? 

A: Yes. Applicants for US federal grants of $25,000 or above must obtain a DUNS before receiving an 

award.   

 

Q 33: Attachment 2, Part IV. 5 (pp 30-31). This requires information about items we plan to procure for 

the project. Can you please advise what a “non-Free World country” is? 

A: The United States Government foreign policy restricted countries are Cuba, Iran, North Korea, and 

Syria. 

http://www.usaid.gov/branding/suppliers
http://www.usaid.gov/branding
http://aoprals.state.gov/content.asp?content_id=233&menu_id=81


_____________________________________________________________________________________
Response to Questions – RFA No. AID-492-C-13-00017                                                                                     8 
 

Q 34: Attachment 1A – SF-424B – Are we able to comply by certifying that UTS complies with Australian 

laws that are similar to the US laws that would be applicable to the USAID grant? 

A: Yes, that is appropriate. 

 

Q 35: Attachment 2, Part II, Section 7 (p32): Estimated Costs of Communications Products - Can we include 

this in the detailed budget or do we budget this separately under Section 7?   

A: All project cost must be included in the Budget 

 

Q 36: Attachment 2, Part II, Section 6.  <Organization> is a non-US entity that operates as a corporation 

under the laws of Australia and is a nongovernmental education institution. Are we able to tick both?  If 

not, which one applies? 

A: Applicants are advised to mark all appropriate boxes that describe their organization.  

 

Q 37: The PACAM Fund instructions stated that the fund will not support activities related to livestock 

management. Does this mean funds cannot be applied to the expansion of dry liter piggeries, Marine 

Protected Areas (MPA) management, or Ridge to Reef Sanctuaries? 

A: PACAM will not fund any activities that will have a negative impact on the environment without a 

proper mitigation plan. PACAM will not fund activities that involve construction.  

 

Q 38: What about riverbank/shoreline cleanup activities that may include relocation of piggeries? 

A: Please see response to Question 37. 

 

Q 39: Promoting sustainable livelihood and alternative income generating projects such as mini poultry 

(chicken) projects to reduce pressure of forest clearing and fishing pressure? 

A: Please see response to Question 37.  

 

Q 40: Community engagement in some Pacific Island countries often require preparation of cultural 

offering also known as royalty tribute to traditional leaders. Is this expense accepted by the PACAM fund? 

A: Monetary or in-kind royalty tributes to traditional leaders is not allowable under this grant.  

Q 41: Earlier it was communicated that the PACAM fund could not be sub awarded to Public International 

Organizations. Is this still the case? 

A: The Pacific-American Climate Fund is restricted from providing direct grant support to Public 

International Organizations and their member organizations as prime recipients of the grant funds. Public 

International Organizations may work in partnership with other Civil Society Organization which meet the 

PACAM eligibility requirements and apply as a sub-grantee, provided the value of the sub grant is less 

than 50% of the total value of the grant. 
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Q 42:  The application checklist suggests that past performance references and letters of support from 

partner organizations and government ministries need to be included, however at no stage is this 

mentioned as part of the Technical Action format. Please could you confirm whether these are needed at 

this stage? 

A: Section II. 4 of the RFA provides information on application preparation guidance. Please see response 

to Questions 14 and 15 for further information. 

 

Q 43:  Can applicants use font smaller than Times New Roman point 12 for charts, graphics, tables, etc.? 

A: Yes. Smaller font size can be used for charts, graphics and tables. 

 

Q 44:  We are proposing the following changes in order to accommodate the 50% reduction in the 

proposed budget: (1) Reduce the length of project duration to 24 months from 36 months as originally 

proposed; (2) A reduced geographical target area. Please let us know if this is agreeable. 

A: Please see response to Question 3. 

 

Q 45:  Section IV, paragraph 3. B. ii. (p 18) – If successful, we are required to produce financial reports.  Do 

these have to be audited by an external agency/independent auditor or will financial statements prepared 

by our internal financial services unit be sufficient? 

 

A: Financial statements prepared by the applicant is sufficient. Please see response to Question 19 (d) for 

further information. 

 

Q 46:  Attachment 2, Part IV. 5 (pp 30-31). This requires information about items we plan to procure for 

the project.  Do we need to itemize them now or do we do this only if we are awarded the funding? 

A: The procurement list of goods and services is a requirement of this application and should be submitted 

as per instructions in the RFA. 

 

Q 47: Section F ii. g – Can the cost of support staff be included in “other direct costs”?  If not, in which 

category would support staff be included? 

 A: No. Please see response to question 30 (b) and Direct Labor provides information on salaries, wages 

and annual increases for all personnel proposed under the application. This is described in Section F. ii, of 

the RFA.    

 

Q 48:  Section F ii. g - Can we include the costs associated with both producing and delivery the products 

in the branding and marking plans? If so do we include them under ‘other direct costs’ in the detailed 

budget? 

A: Yes. Please see response to question 30 (b) 
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Q 49:  Section F ii.i.  (a) What constitutes a local organization?  (b) What items can we include under 

indirect costs if we are not a local organization?  

A:  (a) A local organization must: 

• Be organized under the laws of the recipient country;  

• Have its principal place of business in the recipient country;  

• Be majority owned by individuals who are citizens or lawful permanent residents of the 

recipient  country or be managed by a governing body, the majority of whom are citizens or 

lawful permanent residents of a recipient country; and  

• Not be controlled by a foreign entity or by an individual or individuals who are not citizens or 

permanent residents of the recipient country. 

 

(b) Please see response to question 30 (c) 

 

Q 50:  What is the indirect/overhead cost limit? 

 A:  Please see response to question 30 (c) 

 

Q 51:  My organization has been working on its local registration for several months now and is almost 

there. My question is, in case the certificate is not on hand to attach to the proposal, we are looking to 

get our lawyers to write a letter confirming submission. I am hoping this is an acceptable position, and 

that the registration certificate will be submitted as soon as received. 

A: You application will be included in the review process.  If the Grants Review Board recommendation 

for your application is to be further considered for award, the registration certificate will be required 

during pre-award survey stage. Please note that grant will not be awarded until the eligibility criteria of 

having the registration requirements are fully met. 

 

Q 51: We note that the RFA does not set any requirements for Applicants to provide matching funds. Will 

cost-share/match will be considered during the proposal evaluations? 

A: No. The cost-share/matching funds will not be considered during the proposal evaluations. 

 

Q 52:  Part II and Part III of the RFA include key individual and participant certifications for narcotics 

offenses and drug trafficking. It is our understanding that per 22 CFR Part 140, these certifications are 

required for covered assistance. As our proposal includes activities in the Micronesian countries (all non-

covered countries) - can you clarify if we are required to submit these Parts? 

A:  Applicants who are legally registered in and/or proposing to implement projects in countries that are 

not “covered” are not required to submit this certification. 
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Q 53: Per Section F.2.j of the RFA, local organizations are not allowed to include indirect costs. The 

<applicant> is an organization legally registered in the Pacific Island Country, and does fit the criteria 

outlined in the PGRD response to Question 49 in the "frequently asked questions" file.  

However, <applicant> is also a registered as a 501(c) 3 as a foreign entity. <Applicant> is in the process of 

negotiating its third NICRA with the U.S. Department of Commerce, to be used under an existing 

cooperative agreement with the National Oceanic and Atmosphere Administration. Given this 

information, are we authorized to include indirect costs in our proposal? 

A: If an applicant already has a Negotiated Indirect Rate Agreement (NICRA) with a US Government 

agency, it is allowed to include indirect rates in its budget and must include a copy of that NICRA with its 

budget submission. Note, however, that if the organization submitting the application is a registered US 

organization, the total grant budget must not exceed $100,000.  Also note, that USAID defines a “local” 

organization as one that fulfills all of the following criteria:   

• Is organized under the laws of the recipient country; 

• Has its principal place of business in the recipient country; 

• Is majority-owned by individuals who are citizens or lawful permanent residents of the recipient 

country or is managed by a governing body, the majority of whose members are citizens or lawful 

permanent residents of a recipient country; and 

• Is not controlled by a foreign entity or by an individual or individuals who are not citizens or 

permanent residents of the recipient country. 

 

  

 

 

 


